Article I: NAME

Section 1. The name of this organization shall be CHESAPEAKE BAY YACHT CLUBS ASSOCIATION, Inc., hereinafter referred to as the Association.

Article II: PURPOSE

Section 1. The purposes of the Association are:

- a. To further yachting, boating associations, yacht clubs, and other related boating organizations in the CHESAPEAKE BAY area.
- **b.** To act as liaison between member clubs and other organizations when requested.
- c. To represent its member clubs in all matters affecting their interests or the interests of boatmen in general.

Article III: OFFICERS

- **Section 1.** The Elected_Officers of the Association shall be Commodore, Vice Commodore, Legislative Director, Rear Commodore, Qualifications Officer, Directors for State Legislation, Secretary, Treasurer, Marketing/Communications Director, Safety and Education Director, and the District Representatives. All Officers shall be members of Member Clubs.
- **Section 2.** Each year at the April Board Meeting, the Board will determine the number of Directors of State Legislation to be elected for the next year. The number of Directors of State Legislation should be determined according to the following criteria.
- a. There shall be a minimum of three (3) and a maximum of six (6) Directors of State Legislation
- b. There shall be a Director of State Legislation who is responsible for the State of Maryland.
- c. There shall be a Director of State Legislation who is responsible for the Commonwealth of Virginia.
- **d.** The States of Delaware, New Jersey, and Pennsylvania shall be covered by at least one (1) Director of State Legislation. As determined by the Board, the responsibility to cover these states can be assigned to three (3) separate Directors of State Legislation, or can be assigned to two (2) Directors of State Legislation, with one Director of State Legislation having the responsibility for two of the states.
- e. As determined by the Board, there may be a Director of State Legislation for the District of Columbia.
- **Section 3.** All Officers, except the Legislative Director and the Directors of State Legislation, shall be elected by the Association in the August Delegates Meeting and shall hold office for one (1) year, from their installation at the Change of Watch during the Annual Delegates Meeting in November or until their successors are elected.
- **Section 4.** The Legislative Director and the Directors of State Legislation shall be elected by the Association in the August Delegates Meeting and shall hold office for two (2) years, following their initial installation at the Change of Watch or until their successors are elected, and, if elected subsequently, for one (1) year terms or until their successors are elected, after the initial 2 year term is completed.
- Section 5. An Officer may or may not be a Delegate or Alternate Delegate.

Article IV: ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE

- **Section 1.** The ultimate authority within the Association rests with the Delegates of the Member Clubs. Authority to conduct the operations of the Association is delegated to the Board of Governors, hereinafter called the Board, for all aspects delineated in the Constitution and By-Laws. The Board shall promulgate policies, rules, and/or procedures pertaining to operations of the Association providing such do not conflict with the Constitution and By-Laws. Delegates shall be informed of such policies, rules, and procedures promulgated by the Board. The Board shall maintain an Association Handbook that delineates the current policies, rules, and procedures.
- **Section 2.** The voting members of the Board shall include the Officers described in Article III: OFFICERS, Section 1, and the Immediate Past Commodore. All other Association Past Commodores shall retain non-voting membership on the Board.

- **Section 3.** Each year at the April Board Meeting, the Board will determine the number of District Representatives to be elected for the next year. The number of District Representatives should be determined based on the number of Member Clubs and the geographical location of the Member Clubs. District Representatives shall be elected by the Association in the August Delegates Meeting and shall hold office for one (1) year from their installation at the Change of Watch at during the November Delegates Meeting or until their successor is elected. District Representatives shall be members of Member Clubs.
- **Section 4.** The Board shall have the power by majority vote to fill any vacancy which may occur in its membership, or elective position.
- **Section 5.** The Association Commodore shall appoint, with approval of the BOG a Legal Counsel, a Parliamentarian, a Sergeant-At-Arms, a Chaplain, and a Historian who shall advise the Officers of the Association.
- **Section 6.** The Association Commodore shall appoint, with approval of the BOG, Chairmen for such committees as necessary, or as directed by vote of the Delegates. All Committee Chairmen shall appoint their own committees unless restricted by the Delegates. Committee Chairmen and members shall be members of Member Clubs.
- **Section 7.** The Association Commodore shall appoint, with approval of the BOG, representatives and liaisons to such organizations as the Commodore deems necessary, or as directed by a vote of the Delegates.
- **Section 8.** The Nominating Committee shall consist of the Immediate Past Commodore and six (6) members elected by the Association in the August Delegates Meeting for two (2) year terms, three (3) to be elected each year. Members of the Nominating Committee shall be members of Member Clubs. If the IP/C position is vacant for any reason, such as the passing, resignation, or dismissal of the person who would have held this office, or if the IP/C is unable to serve on the committee, the Board shall designate an association Past Commodore to serve as Chair.
- **Section 9.** The elected members of the Nominating Committee shall include at least one (1) additional Past Commodore and five (5) others who are Delegates or Alternate Delegates, non-voting members of the Board, or have served in an elective or appointed position of the Association. To assure the members of the Nominating Committee are familiar with the operations of the Association, they shall have served in one or more of the qualifying positions for a minimum of two (2) years. This service shall have been within the last four (4) years prior to being elected. To represent as many Member Clubs as possible, the members of the Nominating Committee should come from as wide a geographical area as possible.
- **Section 10.** Members of the Nominating Committee shall attend sixty percent (60%) of the Board and Delegates Meetings throughout their tenure on the committee.
- **Section 11.** All Board members and Committee Chairs that have dealings with outside vendors, suppliers etc. shall be the sole contact person to that vendor, supplier etc.
- **Section 12.** The Board may consider for removal from the Board any elected member who misses three successive regularly scheduled Board meetings (the IP/C is not considered elected). A majority vote at a Board Meeting where a quorum is present is required for removal (i.e. dismissal from office).
- **Section 13.** Conflict of Interest. To avoid, conflict of interest or impropriety, or even the appearance of impropriety, the following shall be adhered to:
- a. Audits. Auditors conducting audits of CBYCA accounts, shall not be related in any manner to anyone on the BOG.
- b. Checks. Of the individuals authorized to sign CBYCA expenditure checks, none shall be related in any manner.

Article V: MEMBERSHIP

- **Section 1.** Membership in this Association is limited to those Yacht Clubs which have been in existence for a period of at least two (2) consecutive years and meet all qualifications as specified in Article VI of the Constitution and By-Laws and Association Handbook of this Association at the time of presentation to the Delegates for vote on membership.
- **Section 2.** To apply for membership, a club must complete the prescribed application form to be signed by its Secretary at the direction of its governing body. The initiation fee must accompany the application.

- **Section 3.** Each prospective club shall be sponsored by the governing body of a Member Club whose dues are current and has not been suspended.
- Section 4. Upon receipt of an application for membership, the Association Qualifications Officer shall:
- **a.** Review all documents submitted with the application to determine if the prospective clubs meets the requirements set forth in Sections 1 through 3 of this article.
- **b.** Personally conduct a physical investigation of the applicant's facilities, accommodations, and records and interview their officers and members.
- c. Review the Constitution and By-Laws of the prospective club.
- **d.** Present to the Board his or her recommendation for acceptance or rejection based on his or her pertinent findings of the prospective club's eligibility for membership.
- **Section 5.** Upon approval by the Board, the Association Qualifications Officer shall:
- **a.** Direct the Association Secretary to publish, by either email to all Delegates and member club Commodores or by placing a notice in the Chartroom Chatter within fifteen (15) days of the date of application, essential data necessary to properly identify the applicant prospective club and to invite Delegates' or Member Clubs' comments to be directed to the Association Qualifications Officer within twenty (20) days of the published notice.
- b. Prepare a report of the Board's recommendation to accept the perspective club for membership.
- **Section 6.** The Delegates, after receiving the Association Qualifications Officer's report, shall vote by secret ballot. An applicant shall be elected unless there be at least ten (10) negative votes and only if the number of positive votes exceeds the number of negative votes.
- Section 7. A minimum of thirty-five (35) days is required between receipt of an application and the vote thereon by the Delegates.
- **Section 8.** In extenuating circumstances, the Association Commodore may appoint a member of a Member Club to assist the Association Qualifications Officer in the performance of his or her duties.
- **Section 9.** At the direction of the Board or upon written request by any two (2) Delegates of two (2) different Member Clubs, a reevaluation of the Qualifications of a Member Club may be made and reported to the Board. If the Board decides that further action is to be taken, it may, after hearing the representatives of the Member Club in question, recommend either suspension or expulsion.
- **Section 10.** To suspend or expel a Member Club, written notice of such proposed action must be sent to all Delegates and Member Clubs at least thirty (30) days prior to the next meeting of the Delegates with the exception of the provisions set forth in Article XI, Section 3, relative to non-payment of dues. The vote shall be by secret ballot with a two-thirds (2/3) majority vote of all registered Delegates present necessary to expel or suspend and ratified by two-thirds (2/3) of the Member Clubs within forty-five (45) days.
- **Section 11.** A club that has resigned from the Association, by way of written notice (mailed or emailed) signed by the member club Commodore, and has no money owed the Association, may be reinstated. The application fee and the thirty-five (35) day waiting period shall be waived. The club must file an application in the regular manner and meet all existing requirements at the time of reinstatement. The process for approval of reinstatement shall be as described in Sections 4-6 of this Article, with the exception of Section 4.b.

Article VI: DEFINITION OF A YACHT CLUB

- **Section 1.** For the purpose of membership in the Association, a yacht club is any boating organization, club, or association whose members are elected to membership and is devoted to yachting and the accommodation and pleasure of its members. It is governed by a constitution and by-laws, which are approved by its members. Its officers and Governing Board are elected by its members. Any profits derived by its operation shall be used for the betterment of the club and its membership as a whole.
- **Section 2.** The governing body of each Member Club shall set their own policies as to the temporary use of their facilities by members of other Member Clubs.

Section 3. A yacht club may not be "commercial" or subject to a "commercial enterprise"; that is, an individual or group, other than the club may not control who shall be voted into membership or who shall hold office in the club. A yacht club shall establish its own rules, regulations and by-laws concerning the operations of the club without interference from any outside individual or group.

Article VII: DELEGATES

- Section 1. There shall be one (1) Delegate per Member Club who shall be appointed by his or her club.
- **Section 2.** A Member Club may also appoint an Alternate Delegate. If the Alternate Delegate attends a meeting in the place of the Delegate, he or she shall have all the rights and privileges of the Delegate at the meeting.
- **Section 3.** Annually, it is the Member Club's responsibility to forward to the Association Secretary the name of each Delegate and Alternate Delegate, if applicable, no later than the February meeting of the Association. This can be accomplished via U.S. Mail, E-Mail or in person at an Association meeting. Such Delegate and Alternate shall serve for one (1) year or until the Member Club appoints a successor.
- **Section 4.** If neither the Delegate nor Alternate Delegate is able to be present at a meeting, the Member Club may send another of its members to serve as Delegate for the meeting. For that individual to enjoy all the rights and privileges of a Delegate, the member club Commodore must notify the Secretary, prior to the start of the meeting, by mail, email, or presentation of a written document, signed by the Commodore, confirming he/she is authorized to represent the club at this particular Association meeting.

Article VIII: GOVERNANCE & OPERATIONS

- **Section 1.** The Annual Delegates Meeting of the Association shall be held each year in November at such time and place designated by the Board. The officers and other Board members elected at the August Delegates Meeting shall be formally installed during the Annual Meeting.
- **Section 2.** Other Delegates Meetings of the Association shall be held in February, April, and August, or within two weeks of such months, at a time and place designated by the Board.
- **Section 3.** A quorum shall constitute one-fourth (1/4) of the total number of Member Clubs.
- **Section 4.** Delegates Meetings are open to all Member Clubs and invited guests. Only Delegates or Alternate Delegates, members of the Board, and Committee Chairmen of the Association, may make motions and second them. Voting shall be in accordance with Article X.
- **Section 5.** Actions taken at Delegates Meetings may be referred back to the Member Clubs for ratification if requested by a majority of Delegates present and voting. In such case, the action must be ratified by a majority of the Member Clubs within forty-five (45) days of the meeting to be in effect.
- **Section 6.** Special Delegates Meetings may be called by the Association Commodore or at the request of four (4) Delegates from four (4) different Member Clubs in good standing. All requests must be made in writing via mail or email to the Secretary. If the Association Secretary receives a written request for a Special Delegates Meeting, the Association Secretary shall notify the Delegates of all Member Clubs of the meeting via mail or email at least four (4) weeks prior to the Special Delegates Meeting. The notification shall include the topic to be discussed and the reason a Special Delegates Meeting is required. A Special Delegates Meeting requested by the delegates shall not need approval by the Commodore or Board. A Special Delegates Meeting requested by the Commodore shall require approval of the Board.
- **Section 7.** Board Meetings will be held monthly, except for May through July when only one (1) meeting will be held, at a time and location approved by the Association Board. (As a courtesy, the Board shall ask the Association Commodore for his or her desired times and locations).
- **Section 8.** Board Meetings are open to all Delegates and Alternate Delegates unless the Association Commodore calls an Executive Session. Said request must be in written form and must be presented to the Secretary via mail or email at least ten (10) days prior to the meeting. It is the Secretary's responsibility to notify the Board via email or mail at least one (1) week in advance of the Board Meeting that there is to be an Executive Session. An Executive Session may be held prior to or following a regular Board Meeting..

- **Section 9.** At Board Meetings, all members of the Board may make and second motions. Only voting members of the Board, as described in Article IV, Section 2 shall be eligible to vote.
- **Section 10.** A quorum for a Board Meeting shall constitute a majority of the voting Officers and members of the Board of the Association as described in Article IV, Section 2.
- **Section 11.** Special Board Meetings may be called by the Association Commodore, with approval of the BOG or at the request of four (4) Board members.
- **Section 12.** Where the Constitution and By-Laws do not specifically provide otherwise, the Association Handbook shall govern. With the exception of the provisions in Section 13 of this Article, a majority vote of the Board shall be required to amend the Association Handbook.
- **Section 13.** Any amendments to the Association Handbook which cover procedures or policies which specifically relate to Delegates and/or Member Clubs shall be brought to the Delegates for a vote before being incorporated into the Handbook.
- **Section 14.** Where the Constitution and By-Laws or the Association Handbook do not specifically provide otherwise, the most recent edition published of "Roberts Rules of Order, Revised" shall govern.
- Section 15. The Association Vice Commodore shall make arrangements for all association meetings, propose meeting times and locations to the Board for approval, and, in the event of meeting problems or disagreements, the issues are to be presented to the Board for resolution. For meeting arrangements, the Association Vice Commodore shall be the sole voice and representative to other clubs, organizations, and businesses. If needed, the Vice Commodore shall recommend and the Board shall approve an alternate to act for the Association in the event the Vice Commodore cannot perform all or some of these duties.
- **Section 16.** Meeting agendas are to be used only as a guide for meeting planning and management. Agendas or any other devices shall not be used to limit or prohibit questions, motions, debates, reports, or the raising of new business.
- **Section 17.** Meeting Chairs shall be subject to the guidelines and duties contained in the latest edition of Robert's Rules, shall not otherwise limit or prohibit questions, motions, debates, reports, and the raising of new business. Meeting Chairs shall take no position when motions are before the Board or Delegates.
- **Section 18.** Unless specified otherwise, all references to mail in this Constitution and Bylaws mean first class mail by the U.S. Postal Service. Mail or email will be sent to the most recent addresses of record for the Delegates, Commodores, and Member Clubs.
- **Section 19.** Unless specified otherwise, all references to the member club Commodore in this Constitution and Bylaws mean the person holding the highest ranking office in the member club.
- **Section 20.** Unless specified otherwise, communication to the Association by a member club shall be considered official only if made by its Delegate, Alternate Delegate, or Commodore. Conflicting or ambiguous communication will be referred to the member club Commodore for resolution.
- Section 21. Electronic virtual meetings may be held to conduct official business, subject to the following:
- **a.** Electronic virtual meetings shall be governed by the same requirements as in person meetings, including the taking of minutes where required.
- **b.** Technology used to conduct electronic virtual meetings shall permit all attendees to hear, speak, address the Chair, make motions, vote, and otherwise conduct business as though they were meeting in person.
- Section 22. When requirements of these bylaws are not met, the Commodore, for the purpose of developing corrective actions, shall consult with the Association Legal Advisor, the Bylaws Chair, officers or persons with responsibilities related to the requirements violation, and others as circumstances may require. Proposed corrective actions, both immediate and, if needed, long term, will be developed jointly by the Bylaws Chair and the Legal Advisor and presented to the Board in writing. Long term actions may include tasking to the Bylaws Committee to develop appropriate bylaws changes per Article XIII. Corrective actions taken shall be approved by majority vote of the Board (or Delegates) in a meeting where a quorum is present.

Article IX: NOMINATIONS

- **Section 1.** The duties of the Nominating Committee shall be:
- **a.** Review the qualifications and performance of current members of the Board and determine their desire to be nominated for the same position or another position.
- **b.** Make an announcement at the February Delegates Meeting and in the February issue of *Chartroom Chatter* that the Nominating Committee is looking for candidates for elected positions of the Association. These announcements shall request that any member of a Member Club who desires to be nominated for an elected position of the Association, shall inform the Chairman of the Nominating Committee of position desired and provide a summary of his or her qualifications for review by the committee.
- c. Review the qualifications of all persons seeking to be nominated who are not currently members of the Board.
- **d.** Meet with any person seeking nomination, if he or she requests such a meeting.
- **e.** Nominate one (and only one) candidate for each elective office at a meeting of the seven (7) members of the Nominating Committee. For the positions of Commodore, Vice Commodore and Rear Commodore, the Nominating Committee shall:
- **i.** Nominate the current Vice Commodore to be Commodore unless he or she is unable to serve or the committee determines he or she has been derelict in their duties as Vice Commodore.
- **ii.** Nominate the current Rear Commodore to be Vice Commodore unless he or she is unable to serve or the committee determines he or she has been derelict in their duties as Rear Commodore.
- iii. Nominate a current member of the Board who has served on the Board for a minimum of two (2) years to be Rear Commodore.
- **f.** Present the Association Commodore with a written Slate of Elected Officials for the coming year via email, mail, or in person at an agreed upon location, prior to 7 June.
- **Section 2.** All conversations, deliberations, and correspondence of the Nominating Committee relating to the process of selecting candidates for elective office shall be kept confidential.
- **Section 3.** All candidates shall meet the requirements set forth in Articles III and IV for the position for which they have been nominated. No candidate shall be considered for election unless the candidate has advised the Chairman of Nominating Committee of his or her agreement to serve in the office for which he or she has been nominated.
- Section 4. No member of the Nominating Committee may be selected by the committee for any elective office.
- **Section 5.** The Secretary shall prepare a notice to the Delegates listing the names of candidates nominated by the Nominating Committee. This notice shall be sent to the Delegates or printed in an issue of Chartroom Chatter no later than 21 June.
- **Section 6.** A Delegate or Alternate Delegate, with the approval of five (5) other Delegates or Alternate Delegates, may nominate a candidate for any office. The six (6) Delegates or Alternate Delegates shall be from six (6) different Member Clubs.
- **Section 7.** Any candidate nominated according to Section 6 of this Article shall meet the requirements set forth in Section 3 of this Article.
- **Section 8.** The Secretary must receive either by hand delivery or via mail (postmarked) or email (dated) the name of any candidate nominated according to Section 6 no later than 10 July.
- **Section 9.** The only nominations accepted will be those from the Nominating Committee and those in accordance with Sections 6 through 8.
- **Section 10.** The Secretary shall send, via mail (postmarked) or email (dated), the list of candidates nominated according to Section 6 to all Delegates no later than 21 July.

Article X: VOTING

Section 1. In case a Member Club is unable to send a Delegate or Alternate Delegate to represent it at a Delegates Meeting, the Association Secretary may be named in writing as an instructed "proxy" for casting a vote on a specific pre-announced question or issue. In such cases, the naming of the Secretary will be used in establishing a quorum for that meeting. If the wording of the specific

pre-announced question or issue is changed by a vote of the Delegates, the vote on the question or issue shall be deferred to the next scheduled Delegates Meeting.

- **Section 2.** If a person serves as Delegate or Alternate Delegate from more than one Member Club at a Delegates Meeting, he or she may cast a vote for only one Member Club.
- **Section 3.** On all questions, only the vote of the Delegate, Alternate Delegate, or proxy will be counted. There shall be but one vote per Member Club.
- **Section 4.** In the case of a tie vote, the question is lost.
- **Section 5.** Voting must be in person except as noted in Sections 1 and 7 of this Article.
- **Section 6.** For positions where the only candidates proposed for election as Officers, Board Members, and other elected positions are those submitted by the Nominating Committee in accordance with Article IX, Section 1, the Chair shall instruct the Secretary to cast a unanimous vote in favor of the uncontested nominated candidates.
- **Section 7.** Should more than one candidate be nominated for elected positions in accordance with Article IX, voting by secret ballot shall be required for the contested positions. To accommodate voting by Member Clubs who are unable to send a Delegate or Alternate Delegate to the August Delegates Meeting, absentee voting according to Sections 8 through 11 of this Article shall be permitted.
- **Section 8.** The ballot, along with instructions, prepared in accordance with guidelines in the Association Handbook, shall be mailed to Member Clubs along with the announcement of the additional candidates required by Article IX, Section 10. The instructions shall require the ballot be returned to the Secretary in a sealed envelope which identifies the Member Club submitting the absentee ballot.
- **Section 9.** In order for an absentee ballot to be counted, it must be in the Secretary's possession prior to the start of the August Delegates Meeting, and must be filled out and handled according to the instructions provided with the ballot. The absentee ballot shall be identical to ballots distributed to Delegates and Alternate Delegates attending the August Meeting and shall not identify the Member Club voting.
- Section 10. All ballots will be cast during the Roll Call of clubs at the beginning of the meeting. As each Member Club's name is called, a ballot may be cast in person by the Member Club's Delegate or Alternate Delegate or, if the Secretary has received an Absentee ballot from the club, the Secretary will open the sealed envelope with the club's name on it and cast the absentee ballot. If a Delegate or Alternate Delegate is present and the Secretary has an absentee ballot from the club, the Delegate may elect to cast a ballot or to have the Secretary cast the absentee ballot. If the Delegate casts a ballot, the absentee ballot shall be destroyed.
- **Section 11.** If ballots are required for the election, the Association Commodore shall assign three election judges. Two judges will count the ballots and one judge will serve as monitor and recorder. The judges will report the results to the Commodore, who will announce the results to the Delegates. The results of the judges shall be final.

Article XI: FEES

- **Section 1.** The amount of the non-refundable application fee shall be set by a majority of Delegates present at the Annual Delegates Meeting. The application fee must accompany the application for membership. Dues shall be payable when the club is accepted.
- **Section 2.** The fiscal year shall begin on 1 January and dues, if any, for the fiscal year beginning on that date shall be set at the Annual Delegates Meeting by a majority vote of the Delegates. Dues for the fiscal year must be paid by 31 January.
- **Section 3.** Should dues remain unpaid by 15 February, the Treasurer shall, within five (5) days, notify the Commodore and the Treasurer of the delinquent Member Club(s) by mail or email that, unless said dues are received by 15 March, suspension and/or expulsion as a Member Club will result at the discretion of the Board.
- **Section 4.** A club admitted to membership at the February or April meeting shall pay a full year dues. A club admitted to membership at the August meeting shall pay fifty percent (50%) of the annual dues for that year. A club admitted to membership at the November meeting shall pay a full year dues to be credited for the next year.
- **Section 5.** Other fees may be levied by a majority vote of the Delegates at a Delegates Meeting and must be ratified within forty-five (45) days after such vote by a majority of the Member Clubs.

Article XII: DISCIPLINARY ACTION AND REMOVAL FROM OFFICE

- **Section 1.** As previously stated in Article VIII, Section 14, where the Constitution and By-Laws or the Association Handbook do not specifically provide otherwise, the most recent edition published of "Robert's Rules of Order, Revised" shall govern.
- **Section 2.** Any elected official of the Association may be removed from office by a majority of those Delegates actually voting at any Delegates Meeting at which a quorum is present.
- **Section 3.** Authority to take disciplinary action on behalf of the Association is delegated to the Board. If any official of the Association (elected, appointed, or designated in the Bylaws or Association Handbook) is charged, in writing, with conduct unbecoming an official of the Association, or regarding any occurrence injurious to the welfare of the Association, and such charges are presented to the Commodore or to the Board, the Board, within 30 days of receipt of the charges, shall
- a. Upon submission by the Commodore (or Vice Commodore if the Commodore is charged) of the names of persons recommended to serve, approve an Investigating Committee including a Chair of not less than 7 members of Association Member Clubs who do not hold an elected office on the Board. At least 50% of the Investigating Committee shall be either the Delegate or Alternate Delegate of an Association member club and at least one member of the Investigating Committee shall be a Past Commodore of the Association.
- **b.** Designate specific work products and due dates for the Investigating Committee based on the circumstances and nature of the charges, As a minimum, all committees shall make a determination of the facts and merits of the charges, make a report of findings to the Board, and recommend to the Board actions to be taken based on their findings.
- **c.** Serve a statement of charges in writing upon the person either personally, by mailing, or emailing a copy to the person's address as it appears on the records of the Association. In addition to the statement of charges, the Board shall include the name and contact information of the Investigating Committee Chair.
- **Section 4.** The person charged shall not participate, including by voting, in any matter that affects the disposition of the charges pending against them, but may otherwise participate in Association business. Other than when asked to give testimony or present evidence, the person charged shall not be present at Board Meetings or portions thereof that concern disposition of the charges.
- **Section 5**. If, at any time during the investigation, the Board, assisted and advised by the Investigating Committee, and the person charged are able to resolve the issue(s), the Board, by a 2/3 majority vote, at a Board Meeting where a quorum is present, may declare the matter resolved.
- **a.** Upon such a vote, the Investigating Committee will be dissolved and no further action pertaining to the charges shall be taken. Any agreements made between the person charged and the Board to resolve the issues shall be made on record. If the Board subsequently finds that the person charged violated the agreements, the Board shall reopen the disciplinary proceedings.
- b. Records of the Investigation shall be retained by the Secretary and Association Legal Counsel.
- **Section 6.** The final findings and recommendations of the Investigating Committee shall be made as a written and signed report to the entire Board. Upon submission of the written report,
- **a.** The person charged shall be notified either in person at any Board Meeting or in writing, by mailing or emailing, to the Association address of record, not less than 30 days in advance, as to the time and place where the Board will meet for consideration of the charge. The Board shall also, in like manner, serve a similar notice upon the person(s) making the charge and to the Investigating Committee Chair.
- **b.** At the time and place specified in the notice, the Board shall make a decision, by majority vote, at a Board Meeting where a quorum is present, on the truth and merits of the charges and may impose action upon the charged official as follows:
- 1. Disciplinary action as approved by the Board, or
- 2. Dismissal from Office and suspension of eligibility to serve in any CBYCA office or official capacity for the remainder of the current term, or

- 3. Dismissal from Office and Suspension of eligibility to serve in any CBYCA Office or Official capacity for a period to be specified by the Board, or
- 4. Dismissal from Office and permanent suspension of eligibility to serve in any CBYCA Office or official capacity.
- c. Records of the Investigation shall be retained by the Secretary and Association Legal Counsel.
- **Section 7.** The Board decision is final, except disciplinary actions may be rescinded or revised by a 2/3 majority of those actually voting at a Delegates Meeting where a quorum is present.

Article XIII: AMENDMENTS

- **Section 1.** This Constitution and By-Laws may be amended or a new one adopted by a two-thirds (2/3) vote of the Delegates actually voting at any Delegates Meeting at which a quorum is present, provided that such amendment or new Constitution and By-Laws be emailed or mailed to all Delegates at least sixty (60) days prior to the meeting.
- **Section 2.** Amendments to this Constitution and By-Laws may be proposed by the Association's By-Laws Committee, members of the Board, Delegates, or Alternate Delegates. A Member Club or individual Member of a Member Club shall forward proposed amendment(s) through the club's Delegate or Alternate Delegate. Proposed amendments shall be sent to the Association Commodore and the BOG.
- **Section 3.** Proposed amendments which do not originate from the By-Laws Committee shall be forwarded to that committee for review. The By-Laws Committee shall make a recommendation, based on its review, to the Board whether the proposed amendment should be forwarded to the Delegates for a vote on its adoption.
- **Section 4.** If a majority of the Board approves a proposed amendment(s) to this Constitution and By-Laws or a new Constitution and By-Laws, the Association Secretary shall mail the proposed amendment(s) or new Constitution and By-Laws to the Delegates with a notice as to when the vote on adoption will take place. The vote will take place at the next Delegates Meeting which takes place more than sixty (60) days after the notice is mailed.
- **Section 5.** If an amendment to this Constitution and By-Laws proposed according to Section 2 of this Article is not approved by the Board for forwarding to the Delegates for a vote on adoption, a Delegate, Alternate Delegate, or Member of the Board may propose the amendment at a Delegates Meeting. If a majority of the Delegates present approve, the Association Secretary shall mail the proposed amendment to the Delegates with a notice as to when the vote on adoption will take place. The vote will take place at the next Delegates Meeting which takes place more than sixty (60) days after the notice is mailed.

Article XIV: RATIFICATION

Section 1. The last major revision of this Constitution and By-Laws was approved by the Member Clubs on August 27, 2016 and serves as the baseline for the current version. Subsequent revisions were approved by the Member Clubs on November 16, 2019 and Augist 21, 2021. This version of the Constitution and By-Laws was approved and is in effect by ratification of the Member Clubs on August 13, 2022.